IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 72,844

CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHARLES BUCOLO,

Respondent.



DEC 12 1938

ON PETITION FOR BEVILW
FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF
APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By G. BART BILLBROUGH Attorneys for Petitioner One Biscayne Tower, Suite 2500 2 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

ONE BISCAYNE TOWER # SUITE 2500

2 SOUTH BISCAYNE BOULEVARD

MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Consolidated American Insurance Company, Inc., seeks review and reversal of the final summary judgment entered in favor of the Respondent, Charles Bucolo, on the issue of insurance coverage, by the Honorable Fredricka G. Smith, Circuit Court Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida, as affirmed by the Third District Court of Appeal on May 17, 1988.

This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution (1980); Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv); and Jollie v. State, 405 So.2d 418 (Fla. 1981). This court, on November 7, 1988, entered an order accepting jurisdiction.

The Petitioner, Consolidated American Insurance Company, Inc. was the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the Cross-Claimant on the issue of insurance coverage in the trial court. Consolidated American Insurance Company, Inc. will be referred to in this brief as the Petitioner, the Cross-Claimant, or by name.

The Respondent, Charles Bucolo, was the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the Cross-Defendant in the trial court on the insurance coverage issue giving rise to this appeal. Charles Bucolo will be referred to as the Respondent, the Cross-Defendant, or by name.

References to the record on appeal will be designated by a letter "R".

All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On July 17, 1985, Plaintiff

her original complaint against Defendants Elizabeth De Silva
Bucolo and Charles Bucolo, her son. (R. 1-5). The complaint
alleged that Charles Bucolo had sexually assaulted the Plaintiff from her earliest memory as a young child through her
early teens. Count I of the Complaint sought to maintain a
negligence action against both Defendants. Count II was
directed exclusively to Charles Bucolo and sought recovery for
intentional assault. (R. 3-4).

On July 23, 1985, Elizabeth De Silva Bucolo was served with the Summons and Complaint. (R. 83). She subsequently contacted Consolidated American Insurance Company, Inc. ("Consolidated"), her homeowner's insurance carrier, and requested that she be provided a defense. Consolidated carried Mrs. Bucolo's homeowner's policy for periods from May, 1972 to May, 1975, and from May, 1975 to May, 1978. (R. 246).

Under the terms of the Consolidated homeowner's policy, Elizabeth De Silva Bucolo, as the homeowner, was the primary insured. The policy also provided insurance for resident relatives. To the extent that Charles Bucolo was a resident of his mother's home during the subject acts, he would have been a relative insured under the definition section of the policy. The policy's terms specifically excluded, however,

coverage for incidents arising from intentional acts by any insured. (See R. 31-49).

On August 8, 1985, a copy of the Complaint was served on Charles Bucolo in Cobb County, Georgia. (R. 251). The record is devoid of any evidence that the Complaint was forwarded by Charles Bucolo to Consolidated with a demand for a defense.

On August 19, 1985, Michael Jenks, Esquire, an attorney hired by Consolidated to represent Elizabeth Bucolo in the lawsuit, entered an appearance solely on behalf of Mrs. Bucolo. (R. 247).

On August 21, 1985, counsel for the Plaintiff filed the Summons and Affidavit of Service prepared by the Cobb County, Georgia, sheriff's department, which reflected that Charles Bucolo had been served. The pleading indicated a copy had been mailed to Michael Jenks, Esquire, as an attorney of record for Mrs. Bucolo. (R. 249).

On August 30, 1985, Charles Kessler, Esquire, retained by Consolidated to enter an appearance on behalf of Charles Bucolo, filed a motion to dismiss. (R. 10). The date of his employment, however, is not shown in the record.

On September 23, 1985, Charles Bucolo was informed by Consolidated that Consolidated reserved all rights it may have under the homeowner's policy issued to his mother. (R. 141-142).

Consolidated was thereafter included as a Defendant in the Plaintiff's amended complaint and filed a cross-claim

against Charles Bucolo for a declaratory judgment determination of coverage responsibility, if any. (R. 31-49).

Charles Bucolo, through personal counsel, moved for a summary judgment on the cross-claim for declaratory relief. (R. 136-142).

After hearing argument on the motion, the Honorable Fredricka G. Smith, Circuit Court Judge of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida, granted Charles Bucolo's motion for summary judgment. The basis of the Court's ruling was that Consolidated had failed to comply with the time requirements for providing a reservation of rights notice as set forth in Section 627.426(2)(a), Florida Statutes. In particular, the court stated:

- 1. The Cross-Defendant, CHARLES BUCOLO, is an insured under policies of insurance issued by CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC., more particularly Homeowners Policy No. H269739 (Effective dates: May 12, 1972 to May 12, 1975) and Homeowners Policy No. H8132945 (Effective dates: May 12, 1975 to May 12, 1978) at all times that CHARLES BUCOLO was a resident of ELIZABETH BUCOLO's household at 1000 N.W. 181 Street, Miami, Florida.
- 2. Michael R. Jenks, Esq. and Charles T. Kessler, Esq. were hired by CONSOL-IDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. as independent counsel, within the provisions of Florida Statutes § 627.426(2)(b)(3), to provide a defense for the Cross-Defendants, ELIZABETH DE SILVA BUCOLO and CHARLES BUCOLO, respectively.
- 3. CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. knew or should have known of that certain coverage defense asserted in its crossclaim, and any other coverage

defenses, prior to August 19, 1985 when Michael R. Jenks, Esq., filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Cross-Defendant, ELIZABETH BUCOLO, or alternatively, before August 21, 1985 when said counsel filed a Motion to Dismiss.

- 4. CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. mailed to the Cross-Defendant, CHARLES BUCOLO, its written notice of reservation of rights to assert a coverage defense no earlier than September 23, 1985.
- 5. CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. did not comply with the time parameters, regarding written notices of reservation of rights to assert a coverage defense, contained in Florida Statutes §627.426(2)(a).

(R. 246-247).

Consolidated thereafter appealed the trial court's final judgment regarding coverage to the Third District Court of Appeal. The Third District affirmed the summary final judgment in per curiam fashion on the authority of AIU Insurance Company v. Block Marina Investment, Inc., 512 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

After denial of the Appellant's motion for rehearing, discretionary review was sought before this Court. On November 7, 1988, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

POINTS ON APPEAL

I.

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUD-ING THAT, BECAUSE OF A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE TIME REQUIREMENTS OF FLORIDA CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION ACT, SECTION 627.426, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982), AN INSURER MUST BOTH DEFEND AND PROVIDE LIABILITY COVERAGE FOR A PERSON DEMANDING SUCH BENEFITS WHERE THE ACTS GIVING RISE TO THE COVERAGE DEMAND NEVER WERE COVERED IN THE FIRST INSTANCE.

II.

WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN APPLYING THE FLORIDA CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION ACT, SECTION 627.426, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982), TO COVERAGE DEMANDS UNDER A CONTRACT WHICH PREEXISTED THE STATUTE WHERE THE STATUTORY APPLICATION BOTH SUBSTANTIVELY AND UNCONSTITUTIONALLY IMPAIRS THE RIGHTS OF THE PARTIES AS SET FORTH IN THEIR AGREEMENT.

III.

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONCLUD-ING THAT A VIOLATION OF THE FLORIDA CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION ACT, SECTION 627.426, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982), EXISTED AS A MATTER OF LAW WHERE SUBSTANTIAL, MATERIAL ISSUES OF FACT EXISTED REGARDING WHEN THE INSURER WAS APPRISED OF THE RESPONDENT'S DEMAND FOR COVERAGE AND WHEN THE INSURER SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF ANY BASIS FOR PRECLUDING INSURANCE RESPONSIBILITY.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I.

Section 627.426, Florida Statutes cannot serve to create coverage by estoppel. Traditionally, the common law of this state has long recognized that concepts of waiver and estoppel cannot create coverage, but only serve to prohibit an insurer's attempt to forfeit coverage which previously existed.

Applying standard rules of statutory construction, it becomes clear that § 627.426, Florida Statutes was never intended to create coverage previously excluded by the terms and conditions of an insurance contract. Such an interpretation leads only to application of the statute in an unreasonable, capricious, and absurd fashion.

A review of the statutory language employed by the legislature makes clear that coverage must exist in the first instance before § 627.426, Florida Statutes, provisions can apply.

Because the acts in the instant case of Charles Bucolo, as set forth in the Complaint, are specifically excluded under the terms and conditions of the subject insurance policy, no coverage existed in the first instance. As such, any purported violation of § 627.426, Florida Statutes, cannot result in the creation of coverage in contravention of the insurance policies.

The most cursory review of the record in this case demonstrates that the subject insurance policies covered periods from 1972 to 1975 and from 1975 to 1978. Section 627.426, Florida Statutes, enacted in 1982, cannot be retroactively applied to the instant insurance policies. Any such application necessarily changes the substantive rights of the parties as set forth in those contracts and resultingly would constitute an unconstitutional impairment of those contracts. Under such circumstances, the trial court erroneously applied § 627.426, Florida Statutes.

III.

Finally, a review of the record in the instant case demonstrates that substantial, material issues of fact precluding summary judgment as to whether Consolidated violated the Claims Administration Act. In particular, the record was devoid of any evidence indicating when a demand had been made for coverage for Charles Bucolo. Indeed, the only record evidence before the lower tribunal indicated that notification had been presented of the coverage reservation of rights within thirty (30) days of the insurer's knowledge of the subject claims. As such, reversal is warranted.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT, BECAUSE OF A FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS FLORIDA OF CLAIMS ACT, ADMINISTRATION SECTION 627.426, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982), AN INSURER MUST BOTH DEFEND AND PROVIDE LIABILITY COVER-AGE FOR A PERSON DEMANDING SUCH BENEFITS WHERE THE ACTS GIVING RISE TO THE COVER-AGE DEMAND NEVER WERE COVERED IN FIRST INSTANCE.

The Third District Court of Appeal, in affirming the trial court decision below on the authority of AIU Insurance Company v. Block Marina Investments, Inc., 512 So.2d 1118 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) and Section 627.426(2)(a), Florida Statutes (1982), flatly concluded that the insurer was responsible for the provision of liability coverage and a defense to a possible insured for acts plainly excluded from coverage under the relevant insurance policies. A review of the common law applicable to creating coverage by estoppel, the text of the Florida Claims Administration Act, and the case law construing the statutory provision makes clear that the Third District's analysis in its Block Marina decision, as applied to the instant case, was erroneous and should be reversed.

¹It is well settled in the Third District of Appeal that sexual molestation constitutes an intentional act for insurance coverage purposes. <u>Landis v. Allstate Insurance Company</u>, 516 So.2d 305 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); <u>See</u>, <u>also (Footnote Continued)</u>

Any analysis of the obligations set forth in Section 627.426 Florida Statutes, must necessarily begin with an examination of Florida common law prior to its enactment. The general rule in Florida has been well established for a substantial period of time that the doctrine of waiver and estoppel cannot apply to create insurance coverage that did not previously exist. As noted by this Court, waiver and estoppel may only serve to preclude enforcement by an insurer of a forfeiture provision:

The general rule is well established that the doctrine of waiver and estoppel based upon the conduct or action of the insurer (or his agent) is not applicable to matters of coverage as distinguished from grounds for forfeiture 18 Fla. Jur.2d Insurance, Section 677, and 43 M. Jur.2d Insurance, Section 1184. State Liquor Stores #1 v. United States Fire Insurance Company, Fla. App. 1971, 243 So.2d 228; Johnson v. Dawson, Fla. App. 1972, 257 So.2d 282. See also, Alaska Foods, Inc. v. American Manufacturers Mutual Insurance Company, Alaska 1971, 482 P.2d 842; Commonwealth Insurance Company of New York v. O. Henry Tent & Awning Company, 7th Cir. 1961, 287 F.2d 316. In other words, while an insurer may be estopped by its conduct from seeking a forfeiture of a policy, the insurer's coverage or restrictions on the underlying coverage cannot be extended by the doctrine of waiver and estoppel. [Emphasis original]. Six L's Packing Company, Inc. v. Florida

Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, 268

⁽Footnote Continued)

McCullough v. Central Florida YMCA, 523 So.2d 1208 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988). It was undisputed below that an intentional act exclusion was contained in the subject contracts.

So.2d 560, 563 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), adopted, 276 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1973).

Accord, Raymond v. Halifax Hospital Medical Center, 466 So.2d 253 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Starlite Services, Inc. v. Prudential Insurance Company of America, 418 So.2d 305 (Fla. 5th DCA), petition dismissed, 421 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1982); Radoff v. North American Company for Life & Health Insurance, 358 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Manacare Corp. v. First State Insurance Company, 374 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1979); Unijax, Inc. v. Factory Insurance Assoc., 328 So.2d 448 (Fla. 1st DCA), cert. denied, 341 So.2d 1086 (Fla. 1976); Hayston v. Allstate Insurance Company, 290 So.2d 67 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); Johnson v. Dawson, 257 So.2d 282 (Fla. 3d DCA), cert. denied, 266 So.2d 673 (Fla. 1972); Kaminer v. Franklin Life Insurance Company, 472 F.2d 1073 (5th Cir. 1973); Reisman v. New Hampshire Fire Insurance Company, 312 F.2d 17 (5th Cir. 1963)²

The only exception to the above stated rule is set forth in this Court's recent decision of <u>Crown Life Insurance</u> <u>Company v. McBride</u>, 517 So.2d 660 (Fla. 1987). In that decision, this Court held that the doctrine of promissory estoppel may permit recovery from an insurance company where refusal to enforce a promise "would be virtually to sanction

²As noted in then Judge Grimes' dissent in <u>Peninsular Life Insurance Company v. Wade</u>, 425 So.2d 1181 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983), this view represents a solid majority position in this country. <u>See</u> 1 A.L.R.3d 1139 (1965).

the perpetration of fraud or would result in other injustice."

Crown Life Insurance Company v. McBride, supra, 517 So.2d at

662. In reaching that result, however, this Court again
reenforced the general principle that coverage cannot be
created by waiver or estoppel:

The general rule in applying equitable estoppel to insurance contracts provides that estoppel may be used defensively to prevent a forfeiture of insurance coverage, but not affirmatively to create or extend the coverage. Six L's Packing Company v. Florida Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Company, 268 So.2d 560 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), cert. discharged, 276 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1973). "[E]quitable estoppel is not designed to litigant in gaining something, but only in preventing a loss. In other words, it will not avail in offense, but only in defense." Kerivan v. Fogal, 156 Fla. 92, 96, 22 So. 2d 584, 586 (Fla. 1945).

Crown Life Insurance Company v. McBride, supra, 517 So.2d at 661.

Under such circumstances, it is clear that the inability to establish coverage by estoppel has been firmly entrenched within the common law of this state for many years.

Enacted by the legislature in 1982, Section 627.426(2) provides in pertinent part:

A liability insurer shall not be permitted to deny coverage based on a particular coverage defense unless:

(a) Within 30 days after the liability insurer knew or should have known of the coverage defense, written notice of reservation of rights to assert a coverage defense is given to the named insured by registered or certified mail sent to the last known address of the insured or by hand-delivery; and

- (b) Within 60 days of compliance with paragraph (a) or receipt of a summons and complaint naming the insured as a defendant, whichever is later, but in no case later than 30 days before trial, the insurer:
 - (1) Gives written notice to the named insured by registered or certified mail of its refusal to defend the insured;
 - (2) Obtains from the insured a non-waiver agreement following full disclosure of the specific facts and policy provisions upon which the coverage defense is asserted and the duties, obligations, and liabilities of the insurer during and following the pendency of the subject litigation; or
 - (3) Retains independent counsel which is mutually agreeable to the parties. Reasonable fees for the counsel may be agreed upon between the parties, or if no agreement is reached, shall be set by the court.

Any review of the legislature's language found in Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes, must take place within the context of certain well-known principles of statutory construction. Statutes in derogation of the common law are to be strictly construed and will not be interpreted to displace the common law further than is clearly necessary. Carlile v. Game Fresh Water Commission, 354 So.2d 362 (Fla. 1977); Southern Attractions v. Grau, 93 So.2d 120 (Fla. 1956); Sullivan v. Leatherman, 48 So.2d 836 (Fla. 1950). Although it is well settled that the courts are not to be concerned with the wisdom of an enactment, the courts will avoid an interpretation of a statute which would produce unreasonable, absurd, or ridiculous consequences. St. Petersburg v. Siebold, 48 So.2d

291 (Fla. 1950); Foley v. State, 50 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1951);

Johnson v. State, 91 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1956). When the meaning of a statute is at all doubtful, the law favors a rational, sensible construction. The courts should not let literal interpretations lead to unreasonable results. State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981); Wakulla County v. Davis, 395 So.2d 540 (Fla. 1981); Agrico Chemical Company v. State Department of Environmental Regulation, 365 So.2d 759 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978), cert. denied, 376 So.2d 74 (Fla. 1979).

Against this backdrop, any analysis of Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes, can only lead to the conclusion that its provisions solely relate to forfeiture rights. Because the legislature elected not to define the provisions of Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes, the courts must simply construe the language in a plain and ordinary manner. Indeed, the provisions of this section flatly state that a liability insurer cannot "deny coverage based on a particular coverage defense." The very language itself presupposes existence of actual coverage before the coverage of Section 627.426 can apply. Without a covered claim, no "coverage" exists and no "defense" to indemnifying coverage may be had by Under such circumstances, the legislature's enactment clearly requires a claim to be covered in the first instance before Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes, can impact on the preexisting relationship between the insured and the insurer.

Section 627.426, Florida Statutes, sets out a procedure for an insurance company to raise coverage forfeiture defenses when denying coverage to their insured. The language of the statute clearly contemplates that the insured is covered, but may be subject to forfeiture of coverage for some breach of condition. Although the conditions found in each insurance policy necessarily vary, examples of forfeiture provisions include the typical duty to notify, duty to communicate, and duty to cooperate. If within thirty (30) days after an insurer knows or should have known of the coverage forfeiture right under the insurance policy, it must advise the insured by written notice of the reservation asserting this defense and then within sixty (60) days of the notice advise the insured in writing of the insurer's refusal to defend, obtain a non-waiver agreement from the insured, or retain independent, mutually acceptable counsel. Where the law once required a showing of prejudice by the insured to raise an estoppel to forfeiture, such a requirement has been eliminated by the legislature in favor of the thirty (30) day notice provision as set forth in Section 627.426, Florida Statutes.

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