WOOA

IN THE SUPREME COURT	FILED SID J. WHITE
CASE NO. 72844	DEC 28 1988 CLERK, SUPREME COURT
	ByDeputy Clerk

CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CHARLES BUCOLO AND

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CARON BALKANY, P.A. 850 San Pedro Avenue Coral Gables, Florida 33156

-and-

DANIELS & HICKS, P.A. Suite 2400, New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33132

Attorneys for Respondents

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

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

Strictly enforced rules beget compliance. There are very few cases involving late notices of appeal anymore in Florida since the 30 day rule is applied without exception. Here, the legislature has enacted an unequivocal rule and there is no place for judicial equivocating. Once the insurers get the message that they are absolutely required to notify their insureds of any coverage defenses within 30 days, they will comply - just as the legislature intended they should.

Petitioner here failed to meet the 30 day statutory deadline for raising its coverage defense of 'intentional injury' exclusion. The trial court properly ruled that that particular defense was waived under §627.426, and the Third District

-15-

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

properly affirmed. The decision should stand.

III

THE FLORIDA CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION ACT, SECTION 627.426, FLORIDA STATUTES (1982) IMPAIRS NO CONTRACTUAL RIGHTS

The application of section 627.426 to this cause of action is not contrary to Article I, Section 10 of the Florida Constitution because it impairs no contractual rights. Furthermore, it is a remedial and procedural statue.

In the first place, the trial court did not apply section 627.426(2), Fla.Stat. (1982) retroactively. Plaintiff filed her complaint in 1985. The trial court applied a 1982 statute to the 1985 cause of action. The 1982 statute merely required insurance companies - like Petitioner here - to notify insureds of coverage defenses within 30 days. Petitioner was simply required by the statute to notify its insured of any coverage defenses to the claims presented in 1985 within 30 days. No issue of retroactivity even arises factually in this case.

Furthermore, a law is retroactive or retrospective only to the extent that it takes away or impairs a <u>vested right</u> <u>acquired</u> under existing laws, creates a new obligation, imposes a new duty or attaches a new disability with respect to transactions or considerations already past. <u>Herbele v. P.R.O</u> <u>Liquidating Co.</u>, 186 So.2d 280, 282 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966). The application of the Claims Administration Statute in the instant

-16-

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

case does not take away any vested rights belonging to Petitioner. Petitioner points to no contractual provision stipulating that Petitioner would have no time limits for asserting coverage defenses. Therefore, section 627.426(2) does not abridge any vested right. $\frac{7}{}$

Petitioner implies that the statute creates a duty to pay and defend for the insurance company. In reality, however, the statute only sets procedures for an insurer to assert defenses to its existing contractual duties to pay and defend. Those duties were already agreed to by the insurance company; the legislative recognition of the the statute encompasses difficulties presented to insureds and insurers when the question of a coverage defense arises and sets out procedures for See Bill Analysis (HB 4-F), minimizing those difficulties. p.67. Section 627.426 is an attempt by the "government to develop a system of effective regulation which adequately protects the public interest and preserves the many benefits of private insurance." Bill Analysis (HB 4-F), p. 2. In short, Section 627.426 does creates no new duties or obligations; it merely regulates already existing duties.

<u>7</u>/ Petitioner cites Prudential Property & Cas. Ins. v. Scott, 514 N.E.2d 595 (Ill.App. 4th Dist. 1987) to support its proposition that this statutory section is an unconstitutional impairment of rights. However, in Prudential, the contract contained a specific provision in direct conflict with the Illinois statute in question. The other case cited by Consolidated, Weisberg v. Royal Ins. Co. of America, 464 N.E. 2d 1170 (Ill.App. 1st Dist. 1984) is distinguishable for the same reason.

Regardless of whether this Court construes this statute to be retroactive in effect, $\frac{8}{}$ the application of this statutory section is not unconstitutional as applied to the facts of this case because the section is both remedial and procedural in nature. If a statute is found to be remedial in nature, it must be applied retroactively as well as prospectively in order to serve its intended purpose. <u>City of Orlando v. Desjardins</u>, 493 So.2d 1027 (Fla. 1986).

A remedial statute is designed to correct an existing law, redress an existing grievance, or introduce regulations conducive to the public good. <u>Adams v. Wright</u>, 403 So.2d 391, 394 (Fla. 1981). Section 627.426 is remedial in nature. The intent of the legislature, as noted above, was to develop a system of effective regulation to minimize the problems attendant upon liability coverage disputes, i.e. the problems engendered in liability insurance coverage situations where insured and insurer are defending against a claim and a potential coverage dispute puts them in a conflict position <u>interse</u>. As indicated in the legislative history (A. 10), section 627.426(2) was intended to implement early communication of coverage problems to insureds so

<u>8</u>/ Petitioner claims that the text of 627.426 does not contain any indication that the legislature intended the statute to be applied retroactively. Petitioner overlooks section 81 of Ch. 82-243 which states, "This act shall take effect October 1, 1982,..." According to the reasoning of Dewberry v. Auto-Owner's Insurance Co., 363 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 1978), the quoted language creates a presumption that the legislature intended a retroactive application of the statute. 363 So.2d at 1079.

that insureds, insurers and defense counsel could all take appropriate steps to protect the insured's interests in the underlying liability litigation.

Moreover, section 627.426 is procedural in nature because it merely sets procedures and reasonable time limits for raising coverage defenses. Section 627.426 creates a 30 day time limitation for the insurer to notify the insured of any possible coverage defenses. The legislative history reviews the procedures which the insurance company must follow:

> Subsection (2) specifies how an insurer may treat a coverage defense. Paragraph (a) prodays written notice of vides thirty (30) registered rights or reservation of by certified mail or by hand delivery. Paragraph (b) provides clear instructions to insurers as to their options should an insurer choose for whatever reason to assert any coverage defense.

Bill Analysis (HB. 4-F) p. 67. (A. 10). This Court has specifically held that a state, by legislative enactment, may modify existing remedies, including a statute of limitations, without impairing the obligation of contracts as long as another sufficient remedy is provided. <u>Ruhl v. Perry</u>, 390 So.2d 353, 355 (Fla. 1980). In Ruhl this Court noted:

> [T]he legislature clearly has the authority to change a statutory limitation period previously established by law and to make them applicable to existing causes of action as long as a reasonable time is permitted to allow commencement of the action before it is barred.

390 So.2d at 353.

In sum, section 627.426(2), Fla.Stat. (1982) is not an unconstitutional impairment of parties' rights to contract; nor,

as applied to this case, does it impair any vested contractual rights of Petitioner. This remedial and procedural statute sets forth reasonable time prescriptions within which an insurance company must assert coverage defenses or else suffer a statutory presumption of prejudice to the insured. The statute merely remedies the perennial problems caused by belated assertions of coverage defenses after the insured is already heavily involved in litigation.

IV.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ENTERED SUMMARY JUDGMENT AGAINST CONSOLIDATED UNDER SECTION 627.426(2) WHERE THE RECORD CONCLUSIVELY ESTABLISHED THAT THE INSURER KNEW OR SHOULD HAVE KNOWN OF THE ONLY COVERAGE DEFENSE RAISED MORE THAN THIRTY DAYS BEFORE IT MAILED ITS RESERVATION OF RIGHTS LETTER TO ITS INSUREDS.

As set forth above, under $\S627.426(2)(a)$, a liability insurer is not permitted to deny coverage based upon a particular coverage defense if it does not assert that defense or provide the insured with written notice of reservation of rights within thirty (30) days after the liability insurer <u>knew or should have</u> <u>known</u> of the coverage defense.^{9/} The issue presented at the trial court was whether Petitioner knew or should have known of its asserted coverage defense thirty (30) days prior to mailing

^{9/} The words "should have known" denote the fact that "a person of reasonable prudence and intelligence or of the superior intelligence of the actor would ascertain the fact question in the performance of his duty to another or would govern his conduct upon the assumption that such fact exists." Restatement (Second) of Torts, §12(2).

its reservation of rights to defendants Elizabeth Bucolo and Charles Bucolo. The trial court specifically found that:

> CONSOLIDATED AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY, INC. knew or should have known of that certain coverage defense asserted in its crossclaim, and any other coverage defenses, prior to August 19, 1985 when Michael R. Jenks, Esq. filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Cross-Defendant, ELIZABETH BUCOLO, or alternatively, before, August 21, 1985 when said counsel filed a Motion to Dismiss.

(R. 197). The trial court accordingly entered summary judgment in favor of the insured on the issue of the coverage defense the insurer had belatedly attempted to raise.

Petitioner contends that the trial court improperly entered summary judgment in favor of the insured because when an insurer "knew or should have known" of the coverage is a question of fact. This argument has no application here because the record is replete with evidence that Petitioner knew or had constructive knowledge of the alleged coverage defense based on the policies' intentional acts exclusion. The following facts are undisputed:

> (1) The complaint was served on Mrs. Bucolo on July 23, 1985 and was forwarded to the insurance company shortly thereafter;

> (2) The complaint named Charles and Mrs. Bucolo as defendants, charged Mrs. Bucolo with negligence and Charles with both negligence and assault, and alleged that several of the sexual assaults perpetrated by Charles occurred at Mrs. Bucolo's home during the time that he resided there;

> (3) On August 19, 1985, Mr. Jenks, Esq. filed his appearance as counsel hired by

Consolidated for Mrs. Bucolo;

(4) On August 21, 1985, Mr. Michael Jenks filed a motion to dismiss the complaint specifically referring to Charles' Bucolo's intentional conduct, irrefutably establishing actual knowledge by Consolidated that intentional conduct was involved in the case;

(5) Consolidated waited until September 23, 1985 to attempt to reserve its right to assert the coverage defense of intentional conduct against<u>10</u>/both Mrs. Bucolo and Charles Bucolo.

Petitioner the itself admitted that Moreover, allegations of the complaint apprised it of the coverage Specifically, Consolidated asserted in its crossclaim defense. Bucolo and Charles Bucolo that it was denying against Mrs. conduct alleged in the...complaint "the coverage because criminal acts [which are] excluded constitutes intentional from...coverage as a matter of law." (R. 33). Further, the motion to dismiss filed by Petitioner on behalf of Mrs. Bucolo asserted as a defense that "a parent is not liable for the intentional or negligent misconduct of his child by reason of parentage." (R. 6). Therefore, the trial court correctly held as a matter of law that Petitioner knew or should have known of the coverage defense by either August 19, 1985 or August 21, 1985: when the lawyer Petitioner hired to represent Mrs. Bucolo entered his appearance or filed the motion to dismiss.

<u>10</u>/ Mrs. Bucolo also moved for summary judgment against Consolidated for failing to comply with section 627.426(2)(a), Fla.Stat. (R. 129-134). However, Consolidated conceded coverage as to Mrs. Bucolo the day of the summary judgment hearing, thus mooting the issue.

Petitioner claims that the above facts are not conclusive because no evidence exists in the record of a formal demand by Charles Bucolo for coverage against Consolidated. Contrary to Petitioner's argument, the statute does not require that the insured place a formal demand upon the insurance company before the statute becomes effective. The statute begins to run when the insurer "knew or should have known of the coverage defense." Fla.Stat. 627.426(2)(a).

Petitioner claims that five issues of fact still remain in this case and therefore summary judgment was improperly granted. However, the five issues of fact that Consolidated claims to exist are merely excuses for its noncompliance with the statute. The facts pertaining to the issue of the timeliness of the asserted defense are not in dispute and therefore, summary judgment was properly granted.

Consolidated initially contends that the coverage issues differed between Mrs. Bucolo and Charles Bucolo because Charles was only an insured when he was a resident relative. However, the record conclusively shows that Charles resided continuously with his mother throughout the relevant time period and is an insured under the policy. (R. 120-122). This contention therefore does not present a triable issue of fact.

Consolidated also contends that triable issues of fact exist because it allegedly did not know the whereabouts of Charles Bucolo to send him a reservation of rights letter or discover that he had been served until sometime after August 21,

-23-

DANIELS AND HICKS, P.A.

 $1985.^{11/}$ However, the dates on which Consolidated learned these facts is irrelevant under 627.426(2). The statute plainly states that the thirty days begin to run when the insurer receives actual or constructive knowledge of a particular coverage defense: <u>service</u> of a complaint is not necessary to trigger the company's knowledge or constructive knowledge. Moreover, the statute specifically provides that written notice of reservation of rights can be given to the named insured at his <u>last known</u> <u>address</u>, so that insurers cannot defeat the purpose of the statute by claiming lack of knowledge of their insured's whereabouts.

Finally, Petitioner's contention that summary judgment was improperly granted because Charles allegedly $\frac{12}{}$ asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege or because it needed time to investigate is also flawed. In its crossclaim, Consolidated did not attempt to deny coverage on the grounds that Charles was not

12/ Consolidated states in its brief that: "Charles Bucolo had asserted his Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination and was not providing any information to Consolidated...so that Consolidated had no way of determining" from either Charles or Mrs. Bucolo whether a coverage defense existed." (Brief of Petitioner, at 36).

The only record evidence to support this blanket statement, however, is Charles' refusal to answer certain questions during a deposition taken 17 months after Consolidated mailed its reservation of rights letter. (R. 253-273).

<u>11</u>/ August 21, 1985 was the date on which the plaintiff filed the summons and complaint in the trial court. That is not the date on which Consolidated knew or should have of Charles' address.

cooperating in his defense or that he was not an insured under the policy. Consolidated cannot bring forth this new defense for the first time on appeal. <u>American States Insurance Co. v.</u> <u>McGuire</u>, 510 So.2d 1227 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987), <u>rev. denied</u>, 518 So.2d 1273 (Fla. 1987).

case, Petitioner only raised the instant the In coverage defense of the "intentional injury" exclusion. As noted earlier, Petitioner derived this defense from the allegations of Charles' alleged lack of cooperation and the complaint. Consolidated's alleged need to investigate cannot now be raised as defenses where they were not raised before. Moreover, none of these so-called issues of fact bear any relevance to the issue before the trial court: whether Petitioner complied with the statute's notice provisions so as to preserve the particular coverage defense asserted as the basis for denial of coverage.

Section 627.426(2)(a) requires only that the insurer reserve its rights within 30 days after it knew or should have known of the "particular coverage defense." In this case, Petitioner had 30 days in which to raise its "intentional injury" exclusion. Petitioner did not raise this exclusion or give the insured notice of its reservation of rights within 30 days of when it knew or should have known of the defense. The trial court properly ruled that this intentional injury exclusion was untimely raised, and properly granted summary judgment against Petitioner as to that coverage defense.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing facts and authorities, Respondent respectfully requests this Court either to discharge jurisdiction or affirm the Third District's decision.